


spine bilaterally, but not in the lumbar area.  Straight leg raise and Babinski’s sign test results 
were negative bilaterally, and motor strength was normal in all extremities.  Range of motion 
(ROM) measurements for the MEB on 22 September 2005 showed flexion to 55 degrees 
(normal 90), and a combined ROM of 155 degrees, without painful motion. 
 
During the 27 October 2005 MEB NARSUM examination, 8 months prior to separation, the CI 
reported upper and lower back pain, but no muscular or joint complaints or sensory deficits.    
The examiner noted a normal EMG (not in evidence), no acute distress, and normal gait and 
extremities without visible leg atrophy or spasms.  Flexion and extension were within normal 
limits, and the examiner opined that the CI’s lengthy physical therapy (PT), clinical workup, and 
diagnostic imaging failed to explain his limitations.   
 
At the 24 August 2006 VA Compensation and Pension (C&P) examination, 2 months after 
separation, the CI reported central back pain, rated at 5-6/10, with radiation and tingling in 
both arms.  He experienced associated flare-ups at higher pain levels 4-6 days a week that 
lasted the entire day.  He also had LBP rated at 4-5/10.  Physical findings showed the CI had a 
mild antalgic gait to the right without use of an assistive device.  The examiner found an 
accentuated lordosis at the lower lumbar thoracic junction and L5-S1 tenderness, and 
measured ROM revealed flexion to 40 degrees and a combined ROM of 165 degrees, with 
painful motion.  Extension was reduced to 20 degrees due to pain, fatigability, and lack of 
endurance in incoordination. 
 
The panel directed attention to its rating recommendation based on the above evidence.  The 
PEB rated the low back condition 0%, coded analogously 5299-5237 (lumbar spine strain), citing 
a normal EMG study, minimal herniated nucleus pulposus at T7-8, and a ROM study that noted 
3/5 Waddell’s signs.  The VA rated the low back condition 20%, coded 5243 (intervertebral disc 
syndrome (IVDS)), based on the C&P examination, citing VASRD criteria for a 20% rating for 
thoracolumbar forward flexion greater than 30 degrees but not greater than 60 degrees.  Panel 
members agreed that a 20% rating, but no higher, was justified for forward flexion 
measurements recorded at both the MEB PT and C&P examinations.  There was no 
documentation of IVDS with incapacitating episodes which would provide for a higher rating 
under that formula.  Additionally, although the CI reported radiating back pain into his lower 
extremities, this pain is subsumed under the general spine rating criteria, which specifically 
states “with or without symptoms such as pain (whether or not it radiates).”  The CI had a 
normal EMG study and there was no objective evidence of a radiculopathy with functional 
impairment (such as weakness) that directly impacted fitness for duty.  Thus, the panel 
concluded an additional disability rating was not justified on this basis.  After due deliberation, 
considering all the evidence and mindful of VASRD §4.3 (reasonable doubt), the panel 
recommends a disability rating of 20% for the low back condition, coded 5237.   
 
Contended PEB Condition:  Hearing Loss.  The panel’s main charge is to assess the fairness of 
the PEB determination that the contended condition was not unfitting.  The contended 
condition was not profiled or implicated in the commander’s statement and did not fail 
retention standards.  There was no performance-based evidence from the record that the 
condition significantly interfered with satisfactory duty performance at separation.  After due 
deliberation, the panel concluded there was insufficient cause to recommend a change in the 
PEB fitness determination for the contended condition, so no additional disability rating is 
recommended.   
 
 
BOARD FINDINGS:  In the matter of the low back condition, the panel recommends a disability 
rating of 20%, coded 5237 IAW VASRD §4.71a.  In the matter of the contended hearing loss, the 





AR20230004910, XXXXXXXX 
 
 
 
 
XXXXXXXXXX 
 
Dear XXXXXXXXXX: 
 
 

The Department of Defense Physical Disability Board of Review (DoD PDBR) reviewed 
your application and found that your disability rating should be modified but not to the degree 
that would justify changing your separation for disability with severance pay to a permanent 
retirement with disability.  I have reviewed the Board’s recommendation and record of 
proceedings (copy enclosed) and I accept its recommendation.  This will not result in any 
change to your separation document or the amount of severance pay.  A copy of this decision 
will be filed with your Physical Evaluation Board records.  I regret that the facts of the case did 
not provide you with the outcome you may have desired. 
   
 This decision is final.  Recourse within the Department of Defense or the Department of the 
Army is exhausted; however, you have the option to seek relief by filing suit in a court of 
appropriate jurisdiction.  
 
 A copy of this decision has also been provided to the Department of Veterans Affairs. 

 
 
 
Sincerely,            

                  
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
  
 
 
 


